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Leading global provider of advanced equipment 
and systems for the food processing industry.

Food Processing Industry:  “The only reliable way to produce 
more food is to use more technology.” 

– The Economist
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A leading venture capital investor with a focus on 
supporting companies which show the potential to 
become global leaders within their respective fields.

Innovation: “Overnight success takes 11 years.”

With 100 years of aircrafting experience, Fokker 
designs, manufactures, maintains and overhauls 
aircraft parts, aerospace structures, landing gears 
and aircraft wiring systems.

Aerospace: “Over the past 20 years, air travel grew by an average 
of 5% each year, despite two major world recessions, terrorist acts, 
the Asian financial crisis of 1997, the severe acute respiratory 
syndrome (SARS) outbreak in 2003, and two Gulf wars. The 
resilience of air transport growth comes from its intrinsic 
importance to the livelihood of people around the world.”

– Airbus global market forecast

Stork is a world-class, knowledge-based asset 
integrity management company dedicated to 
providing seamless performance to corporations in 
the oil & gas, power, chemical and other major 
industries with operations in the North Sea, Europe, 
Americas, Caspian Sea, Middle East and Asia.

Oil & Gas: “Oil is the world’s vital source of energy and will 
remain so for many years to come, even under the most opti-
mistic of assumptions about the pace of development and 
deployment of alternative technology”.

–  International Energy Agency 

EYRIR 
SPROTAR

http://www.eyrir.is
http://www.marel.is/
http://www.fokker.com/
http://www.eyrir.is/eyrir-sprotar
http://www.stork.com
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„„“Vision is the art of seeing 
what is invisible to others.”

Jonathan Swift



Long-term thinking
We consider scenarios that 
might occur in the future and are 
constantly watching out for new 
opportunities

Integrity
We act responsibly and are 
trustworthy in all our interactions

Courage
We are proactive and exercise 
leadership when necessary

Endurance
We possess the stamina and 
patience to support as needed 
the projects we believe in
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Mission 
Eyrir Invest is an international investment company. Our main focus is on investments in industrial companies and ventures 
that have the potential to become global market leaders. Through leadership these companies are able to create economies 
of scale and value for customers, employees and shareholders.

Strategy
We follow a “Buy and Build” strategy. We are an investor that invests in relatively few companies at any given time. Our 
investment strategy does not follow a preconceived time frame. We aim to become the leading investor in our holdings and 
build a strong and good relationship with our co-investors.

Vision 
Eyrir Invest provides its holdings with stable ownership, experience and long-term thinking. We ensure that execution is 
aligned with strategy. That is how we provide value to our investments. That is how we do business.

Our Values

Financial objectives
Eyrir Invest aims to achieve a healthy return on equity while maintaining a strong balance sheet.

• The aim is to generate long-term attractive returns for our shareholders; returns that are above 
global market returns

• Equity ratio will be maintained above 40%

Mission and Strategy
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While equity markets and many asset classes performed well 
in 2013, the general development of the world economy was 
in some ways less favourable than hoped for at the beginning 
of the year. Towards the end of the year the outlook began to 
improve and economic indicators are encouraging. For some 
of our portfolio companies, 2013 proved to be a challenging 
year. Marel did not live up to its potential and suffered a 7% 
decline in sales. Stork faced some headwinds in the first half 
of the year but in the latter half of the year clear indications 
were visible that management’s actions to improve profita-
bility were returning the expected results. Fokker’s design 
and build division’s performance was on track and we have 
seen good progress in some of our venture capital portfolio 
companies.

Supporting our investments
Eyrir Invest is a long-term investor and as such we focus on 
the end result and expect to see periods of growth, but also 
challenges, at our portfolio companies. Our role is to support 
the companies throughout the holding period, especially in 
challenging times. This was the case in 2013. In both Marel 

and Stork we undertook a change of leadership and the new 
management teams have already identified and activated 
actions to improve the operations of the companies.

The renewed management teams at both Marel and Stork 
operate with strong support from the Board of Directors and 
shareholders, and their main task is to ensure that execution 
is fully aligned with strategy. This is a core part of Eyrir 
Invest’s investment philosophy and we have high hopes for a 
stronger performance from both companies looking forward. 
From our perspective, another important factor is that the 
strong favourable long-term growth trends in the industries 
in which our portfolio companies operate remain firmly in 
place. As our companies continue to strengthen their 
favourable competitive positions, their potential to capture 
an increased share of the value creation also increases.

Letter to shareholders and financial partners

Eyrir’s long-term “Buy & Build” strategy has a proven track record. Our investment philosophy is 
to invest in companies with a clear competitive advantage and the potential to become market 
leaders within their fields. 
Eyrir Invest takes an active role as an owner, supporting core investments and ventures with 
stable ownership, experience and long-term thinking.

Thordur Magnusson, Chairman of the Board
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Strong balance sheet
Eyrir Invest’s results in 2013 reflected the challenges our 
portfolio companies faced. The downward adjustment of 
valuation of London Acquisition, the investment vehicle for 
Stork and Fokker, amounts to 19.1 million euros; an almost 
identical amount to total comprehensive loss for the year. 
The downward adjustment of the valuation of London 
Acquisition is a precautionary measure due to the underper-
formance of Stork in the first half of the year. The share price 
of Marel at the end of 2013 was ISK 133.0, compared to ISK 
140.5 at the end of 2012. At year end, Eyrir Invest’s Net Asset 
Value stands at 15.10 eurocents per share, a decrease of 11% 
from the beginning of the year.

Despite a net loss of 18.7m euros in 2013 Eyrir Invest’s bal-
ance sheet remains healthy. During 2013 the Company repaid  
debt in the amount of 30 million euros. Amongst the repaid 
debt was a listed bond issue EYRI 11 1; as a result Eyrir has no 
financial instruments listed on the Nasdaq OMX Iceland.  
Equity at year end amounts to 168 million euros and the 
equity ratio is 51%.

Eyrir Invest was founded in mid-year 2000. Since then, Net 
Asset Value per share has increased from 1.4 eurocents per 
share to 15.1 eurocents per share, equalling 20% annual 
return. During the same period, the MSCI World Index 
nominated in EUR has declined 1% annually on average.

Highlights of 2013
At the beginning of 2013, Eyrir Invest issued preference 
shares within a new class of equity for the amount of 16m 
euros. Parallel to the issuance of new shares, we extended 

the maturity of borrowings through an agreement with our 
banking partners. As a result Eyrir’s balance sheet harmo-
nises well with our strategy of remaining the principal share-
holder of Marel for the long run and pending exits of other 
core holdings in the near term.

In November 2013 Eyrir’s CEO Arni Oddur Thordarson left 
the Company as he was at that time hired by the Board of 
Directors of Marel as CEO. Thordarson had been the CEO of 
Eyrir Invest since foundation. To replace Thordarson, Eyrir’s 
Board of Directors appointed three Managing Directors from  
within the Company: 

• Margrét Jónsdóttir, MD of Operations

• Sigfús Oddsson, MD of Financing

• Örn Valdimarsson, MD of Investments

We are happy to report that the transition was effortless and 
the cooperation with the new management team has been 
excellent.

The Board of Directors would like to thank Arni Oddur 
Thordarson, who has been the Company’s CEO since foun-
dation, for his contribution and wish him success in his new 
role. 

Finally, we would like to take the opportunity to thank our 
team and business partners for their work and co-operation 
during 2013. We provide our companies with stable owner-
ship, experience and long-term thinking. We ensure that 
execution is aligned with clear and focused strategy. 

Letter to shareholders and financial partners
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Foundation  
of Eyrir Invest

Primary goal was 
investments in 

financial services 
companies.

New Investment 
Strategy in 2004

Focus on 
international 

technical companies 
with the potential 
to become global 

market leaders.

Strategic shift 
from trading book 

into long-term 
investments.

Growing EBITDA.  
Fokker becomes 

a part of 
foreseeable 

market 
consolidation.

Final sale of 
Eyrir’s holding 

in Össur after 7 
successful years.

Full sale of 
Calidris to Sabre 

Holding. Eyrir 
was a co-leading 
shareholder with 

management.

Organic growth 
and bolt-on 

acquisitions. 
Serves as first-

class tier one 
contractor.

Leader with 
20% market 

share in a 
fast growing 

market. Best-in-
class EBITDA 

and cash flow.

Acquisition  
and 

delisting  
of Stork.

Strategic  
purchase of 
controlling  

stakes in Marel 
and Össur.

Major milestones and strategic goals

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 20112010 2012 2013

http://www.eyrir.is
http://www.carnegie.se/
http://www.sampo.com/
http://www.swedbank.com/
http://www.seb.se/
http://www.ossur.com
http://www.sabreairlinesolutions.com/home/calidris/
http://www.stork.com
http://www.marel.is
http://www.marel.is
http://www.ossur.com
http://www.stork.com
http://www.fokker.com/
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At year end 2013 Eyrir’s total assets amount to 
EUR 334 million and the equity ratio is 51%. In 
February 2013 Eyrir issued a new class of shares, 
B shares, for the value of EUR 16 million. The 
purpose of the equity increase was to strengthen 
the Company’s financials and enhance operational 
flexibility. The total number of ordinary shares 
amount to 1,008 million shares, and the nominal 
value of issued B shares is 108 million shares. 

The average maturity of debt is just over three 
years and the bulk of Eyrir Invest’s borrowings are 
due in 2018. In 2013 Eyrir repaid 30 million euros 
of borrowings reducing total borrowings by 15%.

Financial strength 

Eyrir invest is financed through equity and long-term financing. At year end 
2013 the equity ratio is 51%. 

Financial Strength
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“An investment 
in knowledge pays 
the best interest.”  

Benjamin Franklin
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Core Holdings With Sound Financials
Eyrir’s core holdings are a 29% holding in 
Marel and a 17% holding in London 
Acquisition S.à r.l. which owns and operates 
Stork and Fokker Technologies.   

Marel is a global provider of advanced 
equipment, systems and services for the 
poultry, fish and meat processing industry. 
Marel has reached 4% average annual growth 
during the last 5 years. At the same time 
global economic growth has been historically 
low. However Marel’s revenues in 2013 
declined by 7% from the previous year and 
amounted to EUR 662 million, but returned 
a healthy cash flow. New equipment sales in 
markets outside W-Europe and N-America 
are around 50% of total sales compared to a 
20% share a few years ago.

Stork is a world class, knowledge-based 
service provider to the oil, gas, power and 
chemical industries. Stork operates in the 
Benelux, North Sea, Caspian region, Middle 

East and North and South Americas. 
Revenues in 2013 were approximately EUR 
1,440 million.

Fokker Technologies is a tier one supplier to 
the aerospace industry with customers such 
as Boeing, Airbus, Lockheed Martin and 
Gulfstream counting for 80% of total 
revenues. Fokker Technologies is also a 
provider of service and spare parts for the 
discontinued production fleet, such as 
Fokker, which counts for 20% of total 
revenues. Revenues in 2013 amounted to 
EUR 760 million.

The long-term outlook for Eyrir Invest and its 
core holdings is good. The financials of core 
holdings are in line with strategy and 
international benchmarks with net debt 
levels at 2-4x EBITDA.

Financial strength 
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Highlights
In 2013 Fokker Aerostructures signed an important milestone 
contract with Airbus for the development and manufacturing 
of the Outboard Flap for the A350-1000, the largest variant of 
the A350 XWB aircraft family. This contract recognizes 
Fokker’s position as a specialist in smart lightweight 
aerostructures. Fokker and Airbus have a long standing 
business relationship. The company is also a supplier on the 
Airbus A380 for the Glare® (glass fibre reinforced) fuselage 
panels, the thermoplastic leading edge and the wiring 
systems.

Fokker Services announced in January 2014 a package of 
restructuring measures to address the changing conditions 
of the Fokker aircraft maintenance, logistics and parts 
availability market it is operating in. The measures include a 
significant reduction of staff in the Netherlands, as well as 
cost reduction and operational improvements plans. The 
measures are designed to enhance growth in new segments 
and to increase efficiency.

In July 2013 Arnold Steenbakker took over as CEO of Stork. 
Mr. Steenbakker has 22 years of extensive international 
experience in the oil & gas industry. Since joining Stork Mr. 

Steenbakker has increased the focus on optimizing the cost 
structure of the company as well as taking initiatives to 
strengthen sales activities.

On 1 November 2013 the Board of Directors of Marel 
appointed Mr. Arni Oddur Thordarson as the new CEO of 
Marel. Mrs. Asthildur Otharsdottir took over as Chairman of 
the Board of Directors. Consequently Mr. Thordarson left his 
position as the CEO of Eyrir Invest. 

Towards the end of 2013 Stork successfully amended its EUR 
110 million revolver loan facility with its banking syndicate. 
The increased headroom on covenants and available liquidity 
provide a solid base for the company to execute initiatives 
that deliver sustainable performance improvements.

In January 2014 Stork divested its Subsea division following a 
strategic review of its core business offering and increasing 
client expectations. The divestment of Subsea enables Stork 
to focus on providing key services and innovations which 
support its significant business operations as an asset 
lifecycle integrity partner in the oil & gas industry.

Financial strength 
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The vast majority of Eyrir Invest’s assets are in three leading 
industrial companies: Marel, Stork and Fokker Technologies. 
All  three companies are market leaders within their respective 
industries.

Eyrir Invest is the principal investor in Marel, holding 29% of 
total shares. Eyrir Invest also holds 17% in Stork and Fokker 
Technologies.

The rise of living standards and urbanization of emerging 
markets is an ongoing theme in the global economy. 
Economic turmoil in recent years has not materially changed 
these ongoing trends which eventually will lead to a new 
economic equilibrium. In the coming decades billions of 
people in today’s emerging markets will become the 
backbone of the global middle class and living standards all 
over the world will improve dramatically. All economies stand 
to benefit.

Eyrir Invest’s core holdings

Eyrir Invest’s core holdings, representing over 90% of assets, are in the leading 
industrial companies: Marel, Stork and Fokker Technologies. 

% of Eyrir Invest’s  
total assets

%  Ownership  
in company
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54%

24%
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http://www.storktechnicalservices.com/en/
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Eyrir Invest assets are placed in industries that 
stand to benefit from the prevailing global 
economic trends. As an example passenger traffic 
is expected to continue to grow at a 4-5% annual 
rate in coming decades due to urbanization in 
emerging markets and this is reflected in record 
order backlog of new commercial aircraft. Another 
example is the growth in protein consumption. 
The global population already exceeds seven 
billion people and is expected to exceed nine 
billion by 2050. In addition to more mouths to 
feed, increased economic development enables 
people to consume more, leading to an expected 
increase in food demand of well over 50% by mid-
century.

The future is bright

Despite the favourable long-term outlook Eyrir’s 
assets experienced some headwinds in 2013.

The development in 2013 clearly demonstrates 
the need for shareholders to pay close attention 
and actively manage assets. In line with Eyrir 
Invest’s “Buy & Build” strategy, we have in 
co-operation with other shareholders and the 
relevant board of directors, initiated actions to 
improve operational performance. At Marel for 
instance, operational results in 2013 did not 
reflect the potential of the company nor its strong 
competitive position. Following management 
changes in late 2013 greater focus is now on 
aligning execution with strategy. A refocusing plan 
has been launched and several steps have already 
been taken to simplify Marel’s structure, reduce 
fixed costs and increase profitability.

Eyrir Invest is a long-term investor and a favourable 
long-term outlook is the main theme in our core 
holdings. But while it is important to take the 
long-term view and prepare well in order to benefit 
from the underlying long-term trends, results 

must also be delivered in the medium and shorter 
term. From the Eyrir perspective this means that 
at the same time as our core holdings remain 
focused on capturing the value-creating potential 
from the longer term developments, it is equally 
important to deliver solid cash flow from 
operations and ensure that balance sheets remain 
strong and effectively managed. Thus shareholder 
value will be created in both the shorter and 
longer term.

With the support of shareholders our core 
holdings have reacted proactively to the challenges 
that surfaced in 2013. We are confident that the 
actions taken will lead to improved performance, 
thus allowing for strong value creation in the 
coming years based on the solid foundations in 
place.

Differentiating through “Buy 
& Build”

We at Eyrir Invest believe that our “Buy & Build” 
investment strategy, in combination with our 
long-term view, is what will differentiate us. We 
believe that we have built a unique portfolio based 
on this principle, which has the potential to 
generate significant shareholder value and cash 
flows in the near future. Core holdings have 
strong balance sheets and as shareholders we are 
actively involved in ensuring that execution is 
aligned with strategy. Our core holdings have 
shown the ability to combine growth and healthy 
cash flows. In addition they are all in the position 
to capture value-creating opportunities in their 
strategic plans.

Eyrir Invest’s core holdings

Projected Growth in Urban Population to 2050

Source: UN’s Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division (2012)
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Marel hf.

Marel has an extensive sales and service 
network with offices and subsidiaries in over 
30 countries on six continents, a global net-
work of over 100 agents and distributors, 
and manufacturing facilities in 16 locations 
worldwide.  Marel works side-by-side with its 
customers to extend the boundaries of food 
processing performance.

Marel is a multinational company, with over 
4,000 employees worldwide. Business units 
are located in the Netherlands, Denmark, the 
United States, Iceland, Slovakia and 
Singapore. The largest number of its employ-
ees is based in the Netherlands, followed by 
Denmark, the United States and Iceland, 
with the remainder spread out across the 
globe – from Brazil and several other loca-
tions in South America all the way across to 
Australia and New Zealand in the Pacific.

Marel is the leading global provider of advanced equipment, systems and services to the 
fish, meat, poultry and further processing industries. Eyrir Invest has been the principal 
shareholder in Marel since 2005, a period of rapid external and internal growth.

Risk diversification
Employees 

by Geography
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http://www.youtube.com/user/MarelCorporate
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Marel hf.

Strategy
Marel has maintained its position as an indus-
try leader in the challenging market environ-
ment that has prevailed for the past two years. 
This can be attributed to Marel building its 
strategy around two important pillars: market 
penetration and innovation.

Marel’s continuous focus on innovation, even 
during challenging times, has resulted in a 
steady flow of innovative products that have 
transformed the way food is processed around 
the world. The key to success is through part-
nership with customers to find products that 
set new benchmarks in the industry and to lis-
ten to the customers’ needs in order to reach 
continuous improvements.

Marel’s extensive sales and service network is 
its key competitive edge, and has enabled the 
Company to shift its focus to new markets when 
the economic environment has been less 
favourable in its more traditional markets. 
Marel’s sales and service network is spread out 
across more than 30 countries on all continents. 
The network is Marel’s first line of contact for 
customers at the local level, and brings first-rate 
service, consistency, and continuity to its part-
nership with clients.

“Innovation is the 
specific instrument of 
entrepreneurship. The act 
that endows resources 
with a new capacity 
to create wealth.”

Peter Drucker

http://www.marel.is
http://www.marel.is
http://www.marel.is
http://www.marel.is
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Marel hf.

Market focus
Marel’s vision for growth is based on four 
key drivers:

• Population growth

• Urbanization

• Diet and lifestyle change

• Sustainability and environment

Based on these drivers, Marel has chosen 
its four markets, in which it is a key player 
and partner of choice: poultry, fish, meat 
and further processing. These markets ben-
efit immensely from the underlying drivers. 
Population growth in general fuels increased 
demands for proteins. In addition, when 
combined with the urbanization of popula-
tions, the increase in active consumers, 
individuals with disposable income with 
which they can acquire housing and food, is 
dramatic. 

Furthermore, diet and lifestyle changes are 
causing increased demand for carefully 
processed proteins. Meanwhile, energy 
prices and environmental issues have cre-
ated a strong need for solutions which offer 
a sustainable way of manufacturing proteins 
whilst also protecting the environment.

Operations in 2013
Revenues in 2013 were EUR 662 million, 
down 7% from the previous year as a result 
of low revenues from large projects. 
Meanwhile, spare parts and service reve-
nues continued to increase. Operating 
profit amounted to EUR 43 million com-

pared to EUR 61 million in 2012. However, 
compared to 2012, the orders received, 
order book and net debt improved. 

Meanwhile, Marel has maintained its focus 
on strengthening its global sales and ser-
vice network. This investment will bring 
Marel continued high-quality revenue in the 
future.

In November 2013, Marel announced that 
its Board of Directors had appointed Arni 
Oddur Thordarson as new CEO with imme-
diate effect and that he would be stepping 
down as Chairman of the Board. Thordarson 
had been the Chairman of the Board for 8 
years whilst also serving as the CEO of Eyrir 
Invest.
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Marel hf.

November  
2009  
Successful 
equity  
increase

February  
2006  
Two phase  
growth  
strategy  
introduced

May  
2008 
Acquisition  
of Stork  
Food Systems

April  
2011  
Conclusion 
of all 
pension 
liabilities

November 2010
Complete  
refinancing

2008 2009 20112010 2012 2013

November 2013  
New CEO 
appointed

December  
2012  
All debt 
converted to 
senior level

20072006

Outlook
In 2013, Marel introduced a program to improve 
margins. The program, called “Simpler, Smarter, 
Faster” is expected to improve the Company’s bot-
tom line significantly going forward. By simplifying 
Marel’s cost structure and reducing fixed costs, 
Marel will become a best-in-class producer of 
capital goods.

Marel’s short-term goal is clear. The Company 
expects to deliver EBIT of EUR 55m in 2014. 
Furthermore, with continued operational improve-
ment and healthy revenue growth, Marel’s aim is 
to surpass EUR 100 million EBIT in 2017.

Marel’s long-term outlook is excellent. By con-
stantly bringing new solutions to its key markets, 
the Company has made sure that it is ready for the 
future.

http://www.marel.is
http://www.marel.is
http://www.marel.is
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Stork is a leading provider of knowledge-based asset integrity services in targeted 
geographies, focusing on the oil and gas, chemical and refining, and power industries.

Stork

The asset integrity services that Stork 
provides enables its customers to 
maintain the performance of their 
assets, while meeting high health, 
safety, environmental and quality 
requirements. Stork’s services primar-
ily consist of maintenance, modifica-
tions and overhaul activities centered 
on delivering technical support that 
extends the asset life cycles of custom-
ers’ operations. The focus is on creat-
ing added value by optimizing the 
total cost of ownership. Stork offers 
customers a wide range of services 
and solutions, including:

• Long-term maintenance 

services

• Consultancy

• Project management

• Stop and turnaround 
management

• Inspection and repair services

• Equipment overhaul asset 
management

• Relocation and 
decommissioning services

• Rental of energy, lighting, air, 
heat, mobile offices, lifting 
and welding equipment

With roots dating back to 1868, Stork 
has grown from being a small local 
player to a global provider of services. 
In an important step in its growth in 
recent years, Stork acquired RBG, a 
UK-based provider of services to 
offshore oil and gas customers, in 
May 2011. Today, Stork employs over 
13,500 employees across its targeted 
geographies.

“Innovation distinguishes 
between a leader 
and a follower.”

Steve Jobs

Stork 
  

Core Services  Solutions  Sales and Rental    
Services  

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

 

 

 

Continental
Europe 

UK & 
Africa 

Middle East, 
Caspian, 
Asia Pacific 

Americas 

80% of revenues  13% of revenues  5% of revenues  

Sells and rents out industrial equipment, 
tools and welding equipment and services 
to customers in the Benelux region and 
Germany. 

Also provides training in the use of such 
tools and equipment. Sales and Rental 
services has a diversified customer base, 
with a strong presence in the oil and 
gas, chemical and refining, and power 
and manufacturing industries 

Provides specialist planning and 
engineering services for modifying, 
maintaining, repairing and overhauling 
equipment and machinery across four 
business lines: 

Rotating Equipment: Turbines, blading, 
gears, drive trains, auxiliary rotating 
equipment including motors and 
compressors and control systems

Process Equipment: Static vessels, 
boilers, boiler services burners and 
deaerators

Electrical Equipment: Generators and 
E-machinery, high voltage services and 
diagnostics and engineering and 
maintenance support

Execution services in maintaining, 
modifying, shutting down and turning 
around customers’ operations in the 
areas of:

Fabric maintenance

Electrical and instrumentation services

Consultancy services

Planning and execution of management 
services

Project management and execution

Shutdown and turnaround projects

Relocations and decommissioning

Integrity assurance and inspection 
services

•

•

•

http://www.stork.com
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Strategy

Stork operates in healthy long-term markets 
serving tier one clients and has an excellent 
reputation. It is the Company’s long-term 
goal to become the trusted maintenance 
partner in oil & gas markets. While a large 
part of Stork revenues have come from the 
UK, Benelux and Colombia, the focus will be 
gradually shifted towards growth regions. 

Market focus

Stork targets customers in the oil & gas, 
chemical & refining and power 
industries. These markets are expected to 
grow in the coming years driven by increased 
focus on asset integrity, a trend driven by 
increasing regulatory require-
ments, an ageing asset base, 
increased complexity in pro-
duction facilities and more stringent health, 
safety and environmental requirements. In 
addition, Stork serves customers in rapidly 
growing economies, such as Columbia and 
Peru, the Middle East, the Caspian region 
and Asia Pacific and Africa.

Stork

Profile of maintenance outsourcing spend across the asset lifecycle

3 - 7 years spend 30 - 50 years spend

Capital Expenditure 

Operating Expenditure 

CAPEX OPEX

Concept & 
Design

Relocations & 
Decommissioning

Construction, Hook-up & 
Commissioning

Operations & Maintenance
Imprevements & Shutcowns

Major Projects

http://www.storktechnicalservices.com/en/
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Customers

Stork’s customers are the world’s largest oil 
& gas players, national oil companies and 
engineering, procurement and construction 
contractors. Top customers include Shell 
( largest customer),  Ecopetrol,  RWE, 
Talisman, SAbic, Akzo Nobel, BP, Apache, 
Total, DSM, Electrabel (GDF Suez), Nexen 
and Conco Phillips.

Operations in 2013

Stork’s revenues grew organically over 5% in 
2013, mainly in the Americas but also in the 
UK and Africa. Gross margin, however, 
declined YoY, mainly due to underper-
formance of the Subsea division, which pro-
vides diving services in the North Sea, and 
mis-pricing of f ixed-price contracts. 
Following a strategic review, Stork sold off 
the Subsea division for EUR 11m at year end 
2013 and the Company’s internal processes 
have been strengthened to better account for 
pricing risk of contracts.

In July, the board appointed a new CEO, 
Arnold Steenbakker, a veteran of the oil & gas 
industry of over 22 years. Mr. Steenbakker 
was previously with Fluor Corporation, a 
Fortune 500 contractor specializing in engi-
neering, procurement and construction, and 
Fugro, a provider of earth and engineering 
data to the onshore and offshore energy and 
infrastructure industry.

http://www.stork.com
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Stork

Outlook

In addition to taking part in the growth of the 
oil & gas industry, especially in emerging 
markets, one of the core focus points of 
Stork in the near-to-medium term is to 
translate the top-line growth into bottom-
line results. This will allow the Company to 
invest in further growth, development and 
innovation.

August 2008
Acquisition 
by Eyrir, 
Candover  
(now Arle), and 
co-investors

2010
Sale of non-
core assets 
in Canada, 
Slovakia, 
Argentina

2011
Acquired 
outstanding 
minority 
share in 
MASA

November 2010
Stork Materials 
Testing sold

May 2011
Acquired 
North Sea 
specialist 
RBG 

2008 2009 20112010 2012 2013

July 2013
New management  
team led by Arnold 
Steenbakker

August 2012
Independent 
refinancing, 
new board
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http://www.storktechnicalservices.com/en/
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Fokker Technologies is a leading global aero-
space specialist that designs, develops and 
manufactures highly engineered aircraft sys-
tems to aircraft manufacturers and provides 
through-life aircraft fleet support services. 
Fokker’s main advantage is its capability to 
approach aircraft systems design from the 
perspective of an aircraft manufacturer and 
understanding the aircraft and its operation 
as a whole.

The company operates through its principal 
units:

• Fokker Aerostructures: light-weight 
aerostructures e.g. tails, wing 
components, fuselage panels

• Fokker Elmo: electrical wiring and 
interconnection systems

• Fokker Landing Gear: landing gear

• Fokker Services: aircraft and parts 
availability services

 

Headquartered in the city of Papendrecht, 
the Netherlands, Fokker operates facilities in 
the Netherlands, Romania, Turkey, Canada, 
Mexico, the USA, Singapore and China.

Fokker Technologies

In Fokker Technologies, a world-class aerospace and defence company, and 100 years of 
aircrafting experience, are brought together. Eyrir Invest owns 17% in Fokker Technologies. 

Fokker Aerostructures is a recognized, 
first-class specialist in the design, 
development and manufacturing of 
lightweight structures.  
Fokker Landing Gear modules and 
landing gear for the aerospace and 
defence industry.

Fokker Elmo is a leading player in 
design, manufacture and support 
for the electrical wiring intercon-
nection systems for Aerospace and 
Defence programmes.

Fokker Services offers integrated 
services focused on increasing tech-
nical dispatch reliability and passen-
ger comfort while reducing direct 
operating cost. These integrated 
services consist of aircraft services 
solutions, logistic solutions and 
technical solutions. 

Fokker Technologies

  Aero-structures Electrical systems Services

http://www.fokker.com/
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Strategy
Fokker’s engineering capabilities are based 
on its 100 year heritage and knowledge of 
complete aircraft manufacturing. As a recog-
nized innovation leader, Fokker is involved as 
a sole supplier to 75 commercial and defence 
aircraft types. Lightweight materials such as 
Glare (glass fiber reinforced aluminum) and 
thermoplastics in aerostructures, compos-
ites in landing gear, the unique WDMS for 
the design, production and configuration 
management of electrical systems, the use 
of LED lighting in aircraft and the Electronic 
Flight Bag Solution for the iPad are a perfect 
fit with the ambition to innovate and at the 
same time reduce the environmental foot-
print of the aerospace industry.

Operations 2013

In 2013 Fokker Technologies made good 
progress in the Design & Build units, capital-
izing on a good mix of programs, and strong 
operational improvements. After two years 
of strong (+25% in total) growth, revenue 
amounted to EUR 762 million (minus 1% 
compared to 2012). This was the result of 
further growth in the design & build busi-
ness units – plus 2% compared to 2012 – up 
to a level of EUR 587 million and a decrease 
in the turnover of the service business unit of 
7%. Operational EBIT amounted to EUR 47 
million and was EUR 3 million higher than in 
2012. Parallel to revenues, the design & build 

business units increased their operational 
EBIT with EUR 10 million to EUR 50 million 
and ROS increased from 7.3% to a satisfac-
tory level of 8.9%. The operational EBIT of 
the services business unit decreased from 
EUR 10 million to EUR 4 million resulting in 
a ROS of 1.9% (2012 4.5%). In total, the 
reported operating result of the group 
increased from EUR 21 million to EUR 27 
million.

The operational and financial performance 
shows that Fokker is on solid ground, and 
well positioned given the order outlook and 
future opportunities. Over the last few years 

Fokker has made strong progress in both the 
quality and spread of earnings. The Company 
has a healthy balance in its portfolio between 
both civil and defense contracts, and 
between new and ongoing programs. The 
Group was affected by the substantial reduc-
tion in earnings from the Fokker fleet at 
Fokker Services. There is a growing portion 
from areas other than Fokker aircraft pro-
grams but rightsizing of the cost base is 
crucial.

Fokker Technologies
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Fokker Technologies

Market focus
Fokker is well positioned to capitalize on the 
growth of a number of programs which are 
currently in the development phase. The 
contract for the design and production of the 
composite outboard flap for the Airbus A350-
1000 which was signed in August 2013, is 
the latest program. The outlook for the 
Airbus A350 XWB family of aircraft is promis-
ing, with already more than 800 aircraft 
ordered. The A350-800 made its maiden 
flight in June 2013.

The design & build business units have five 
large civil aircraft programs in portfolio that 
are currently in the development (non-recur-
ring) phase and which therefore show low 
gross margins and return on invested capi-
tal. The programs are the Dassault Falcon 
5X, Bombardier CSeries, Airbus A350-
800/900 and A350-1000 and the Gulfstream 
G650. In 2013 Fokker accomplished some 
important milestones for these programs. It 
finalized the design and started the produc-
tion of the A350-800/900 outboard flaps and 
started the design hereof for the A350-1000 
version. Major progress has been made on 
the design of the tail for the Dassault Falcon 
5X. The design and production of the electri-
cal wiring interconnection system for the 
Bombardier CSeries was completed in 2013 
and first systems have been delivered. The 
Bombardier CSeries made its maiden flight 
in September 2013.

The overview gives a good indication of the 
portfolio of Fokker Technologies and its 
spread over the aircraft lifecycle.

Risk diversification
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Fokker Technologies

Outlook

The mid-term outlook target is to achieve a 
Group Operational EBIT margin of 8% - 
10%. This will become achievable following 
the migration of the order book from the 
development phase to the full production 
phase, cost savings and the restructuring of 
Fokker Services. This business unit needs to 
become more cost competitive and change 
the product portfolio in view of the declining 
Fokker fleet.

Fokker Technologies’ overall outlook remains 
strong, partly based on the high number of 
new projects the group is working on, includ-

ing the Airbus A350, the Lockheed Martin 
F-35 and the Dassault F5-X projects. These 
are multi-year contracts, which will generate 
strong growth in the next years. For 2014 the 
group remains focused on strengthening the 
market position in aerostructures and elec-
trical systems and repositioning Fokker 
Services.

Redesign-ModificationsDesign-Build Sustainment

32%

40%

28%
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“The heart and soul 
of the company 
is creativity and 
innovation.”

Bob Iger
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In venture investments Eyrir adheres to the same investment 
principles as in core holdings when selecting and following 
up on investments, by applying its “Buy & Build” philosophy.

Eyrir Sprotar invests in companies that have high growth 
potential and the potential to become technological leaders. 
The investments do not have a preconceived time frame.

Eyrir Invest has a long tradition and strong platform to par-
ticipate through active ownership, supporting further growth 
and scalability. Investments to date have been in companies 
which Eyrir believes it can add considerable value through 
stable ownership and by capitalizing on existing growth pos-
sibilities.

According to Eyrir Invest’s strategy, investments in venture 
capital may make up to 5% of total assets. However, capital 
is just one ingredient of many for a successful venture capital 
investment. Eyrir also provides its venture capital portfolio 
companies with access to its network of professionals, 
including board members and advisors. 

Overnight success takes 11 years
Invention and innovation are among the key drivers of eco-
nomic growth. In a company’s life the real growth phase 
begins when it starts to commercialize its innovation. The 
story of Marel is an excellent example.

Marel was incorporated in 1983, the company’s roots lie in a 
research project conducted at the University of Iceland start-
ing in 1978. In 1992 Marel’s shares were listed on the 
Icelandic Stock Exchange. Since then, through support of its 
shareholders and capital markets, the company has grown 
from being a technological leader with few specialists into a 
global market leader with a diverse base of 4,000 employees 
in all regions of the world. 

Eyrir sprotar

Eyrir sprotar focuses on supporting promising ventures for international growth and 
value creation, fully in line with Eyrir’s “Buy & Build” philosophy.

Sprotar is the  
Icelandic term  
for the English 
word Seed or 
Venture

“Buy and Build”

Value
creation

Invest in 
attractive 

companies

Clear 
ownership 

role

Strategic 
focus

Financial 
strength

Technological leadership Market leadership
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ReMake Electric

ReMake Electric was added to Eyrir Invest’s 
venture portfolio in 2010 and at that time 
Thordur Magnusson became the Chairman 
of the Board and Örn Valdimarsson a board 
member.

ReMake Electric has developed new tech-
niques to measure and manage energy 
usage. The company offers sophisticated 
energy management software solutions, 
based on its patented metering technology.

• ReMake Electric has developed 
metering technologies for electro 
technical components called Circuit 
Breaker Meter (CBM) technology. 
The CBM adds value as a monitoring 
and diagnostic tool to electrical 
protection installations in buildings 
and supports energy savings as well 
as providing added security and 
reliability.

• ReMake Electric has developed an 
energy management software sys-
tem for intranet and internet availa-
bility called eTactica EMS. The eTac-
tica system helps homes and busi-
nesses to understand and optimize 
energy usage and reduce their car-
bon footprint. 

World energy consumption is projected to 
rise by 30% by 2020 and has increased by 
72% since 1980 while up to 50% of CO2 
emissions attributable to residential and 
commercial buildings stem from electricity 
consumption. Eyrir Sprotar is looking for-
ward to participating in future projects with 
ReMake Electric as we consider the compa-
ny’s products and possibilities unique.

2013 was a milestone year for ReMake 
Electric as the company made good inroads 
in establishing partnerships with resellers in 
Scandinavia and the United Kingdom. In 
addition, ReMake Electric made progress in 

collaborations with manufacturers. As a 
result sales have begun to materialize and 
management has high hopes for continued 
strong progress in 2014. 

Eyrir sprotar

Hilmir Ingi Jónsson, CEO and founder 
of ReMake Electric, and Richard Hogg, 
Company Secretary of InTouch.

ReMake’s energy 
monitoring 
system enters 
the UK market

http://www.remakeelectric.com/
http://www.eyrir.is/eyrir-sprotar
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Eyrir sprotar

Saga Medica

Saga Medica is an Icelandic natural products 
manufacturer, founded in the year 2000 after 
years of studies which began in 1992 and 
continue to this day. The herbs in Saga 
Medica’s products are collected in the pris-
tine environment of Iceland. The most 
prominent herb in Saga Medica’s products is 
Angelica (Angelica archangelica in Latin), a 
herb which has been used for medical pur-
poses in Iceland since the settlement of 
Iceland by Vikings 1,100 years ago. The com-
pany has a strong connection to Icelandic 
nature and the harvesting process is eco-
friendly. 

Saga Medica has a solid academic back-
ground and the company was founded as a 
result of extensive research, on which the 
products are based. In 2013 Saga Medica 
increased sales by 50% from the previous 
year, mainly due to the successful introduc-
tion of one of its products, SagaPro, in the 
USA and Canada. The Saga Medica team 
was also proud to be honoured with Better 
Nutrition Magazine’s “Best of Supplements 
Award” for 2013. SagaPro was awarded in the 
category “Best New Supplement”.

Angelica

http://www.eyrir.is/eyrir-sprotar
http://www.sagamedica.is/
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The tide is turning
Generally speaking the signs at the beginning of 2014 are encouraging. 
Economic indicators in the USA are favourable and GDP growth seems to 
have strong foundations. Europe has returned to growth and in particular 
risks in the periphery seem to be dissipating. And even though emerging 
markets have slowed somewhat down, there is little reason to fear a pro-
longed slump or that emerging markets in general are about to be dragged 
into a recession. Most importantly, the long-term economic trends remain 
firmly in place with continued urbanization and growth of the middle class 
providing the basis for continued improvements in living standards.

Yet many risks and uncertainties remain. For the most part the economic risk 
factors seem to be manageable but political risks are increasing. On the 

economic front one of the main risks facing the developed economies, in 
particular Europe, is the threat of deflation. Europe is still grappling with the 
effects of the financial crisis of 2008 and the subsequent recession. Debt and 
leverage remain too high and are holding back the recovery and in order to 
break the vicious cycle stronger growth must be achieved.

Looking to the longer term
In some ways the immediate economic outlook at the beginning of 2014 is 
somewhat softer than it was at the beginning of 2013. But from the perspective 
of the long-term investor, such as Eyrir Invest, it is important not to let the 
short-term cyclical growth outlook overshadow the structural story.  

The Year 2013

At the beginning of 2013 there were high hopes that the global economy was finally 
returning to stronger economic growth. Overall the result is positive, with growth in 
the USA and a gradual recovery in Europe towards the end of the year. Emerging markets 
on the other hand slowed down again. 

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%

-5%

World Trade Volumes

 Industrial Production 

Manufacturing PM (∆50, Зmma)

Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook Jan 2014

10 2011 2012 2013 Nov. 13

The year 2013

World Trade Volumes, Industrial Production and Manufacturing PM
(Three-month moving average, annualized percent change)

8%

6%

4%

2%

0%

-2%

Emerging and developing economies

 World 

Advanced economies

Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook Jan 2014

2011 2012 2013 2014

The year 2013

Forcast

Global GDP Growth
(Percent; quarter over quarter, annualized)



Eyrir Invest 2013 Annual Report | 30

In particular in Asian economies, where consumption is still low compared 
to GDP levels and savings ratios high, incomes will continue to grow and 
wealth accumulate. For many other emerging markets outside Asia, such as 
in S-America and to a growing extent Africa, this also applies. And even the 
developed markets of Europe and N-America have their long-term potential 
as sustainability and technological evolution make a deeper imprint on 
society.

Living up to the potential
Iceland continues to face a formidable and challenging task in the form of the 
capital controls that still remain in place, more than five years after the failure 
of the Icelandic banking system. As time passes, the downside of the capital 
control becomes more apparent. At the same time progress has been made 
on important fronts. The government is now running a balanced budget and 
the current account balance has much improved. GDP growth has returned 
and is forecasted to be strong in the coming years. Most importantly the 
outlook for new investment is favourable. 

Looking beyond the short term it is however important to strengthen the 
international sector of the Icelandic business sector. To support and foster 
growth in the longer term, Iceland must find ways to increase the availability 
of “smart” risk capital and create a globally competitive business environ-
ment. Here, the capital controls remain the major obstacle and it should be 
the highest priority of Icelandic politicians to set out a clear path towards 

lifting the capital controls and opening up the Icelandic economy for 
increased international participation.

Marel remains one of Iceland’s most prominent export companies with a 
solid platform for continued growth and good operational results. Marel’s 
roots lie in the fishing industry but its successful growth into poultry, meat 
and further processing provides a great example of the possibilities and 
opportunities globalization provides, when approached with an open mind 
and thorough execution.

The year 2013
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Orn Valdimarsson 
MD of Investments

Valdimarsson was formerly 
employed at Vidskiptabladid 
(Business Weekly) where he 
worked for several years as a 
journalist, CEO and editor.  

Valdimarsson has held a seat on 
the boards of various firms and 
been a member of the Ethics 
Committee of the Icelandic 
Federation of Journalists.  

• B.Sc. degree in 
Economics from the 
University of Iceland

• Executive Certificate 
from Copenhagen 
Business School

Inga Hafdis Sigurjonsdottir  
Accounting 

Sigurjonsdottir previously 
worked in the accounting 
department at Navision A/S in 
Denmark and later at Microsoft 
Business Solutions.

• B.Sc. degree in 
Business Admini-
stration from Bifrost 
University

Sigfus Oddson 
MD of Funding

Oddsson previously worked at 
Landsbanki Islands as a Senior 
Director of Corporate Banking. 
Prior to that, Oddsson was 
employed as an Associate at UK 
based Landsbanki Securities. 
He has held a number of 
board positions on behalf of 
his previous employers and is 
an FSA Approved Person for 
Corporate Finance.

• M.Sc. degree in 
Informatics from the 
Technical University of 
Munich

• B.Sc. degree in 
Computer Science from 
the University of Iceland

• B.Sc. degree in 
Industrial Engineering 
from the University of 
Iceland

Olof Bjork Thorleifsdottir 
Executive Assistant 

Prior to joining Eyrir Invest, 
Thorleifsdottir worked in finance 
and accounting at the Fisheries 
Investment Fund, in back office 
at FBA Investment Bank and as 
an operational manager at the 
Gerduberg Cultural Centre.

Margret Jonsdottir 
MD of Operations

Jonsdottir has been employed 
at Eyrir Invest since 2004 when 
she was appointed CFO of 
the Company. Prior to joining 
Eyrir Invest, Jonsdottir worked 
as Director of Accounting and 
Budgeting at MasterCard, 
Iceland. Jonsdottir was also 
the Director of Finance at 
the Industrial Loan Fund, 
later FBA Investment Bank, 
which subsequently merged 
with Islandsbanki. At FBA 
Investment Bank, Jonsdottir 
headed the Accounting and 
Budgeting department.

• Board Member of Marel

• M.Acc. degree in 
Accounting and 
Auditing from the 
University of Iceland

• Cand.Oecon 
in Business 
Administration from the 
University of Iceland

Our Team

Eyrir Invest’s employees consist of profes-
sionals with advanced qualifications and 
wide-ranging business experience.

Eyrir’s policy is to attract highly compe-
tent professionals and offer competitive 
compensation. Eyrir Invest encourages its 
employees to increase their knowledge 
consistently, particularly by continuous 
education.
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Eyrir Invest was founded in mid year 2000. The co-founders and principal shareholders of Eyrir Invest are Thordur Magnusson, 
Chairman, and Arni Oddur Thordarson, CEO of Marel hf. 

At year end there were 20 shareholders in Eyrir Invest, up from 16 at the beginning of the year. The largest ordinary shareholders 
are:

 Landsbankinn hf. * 23.2%

 Thordur Magnusson* 20.0%

 Arni Oddur Thordarson* 17.3%

 The Pension Fund of Commerce 10.0%

 Others 29.5%

*Shares held by Landsbankinn hf., Thordur Magnusson, Arni Oddur Thordarson and by companies fully under their control and 
ownership. Thordur Magnusson is Chairman of the Board.

Shareholders, board of directors and management team

Eyrir Invest’s shareholders are successful entrepreneurs with careers in various 
industries such as banking, insurance, fishing, pharmaceuticals and retailing as well as 
professional investors such as pension funds.
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Board Meetings and sub-committee meetings  
The Board of Directors convened ten times in 2013 and Audit Committee meetings coincide with Board meetings. The 
Remuneration Committee had two meetings in 2013.  All meetings were attended by the majority of the Board Members. 

The Board is provided with a report in advance of each regular Board meeting and a comprehensive report of Eyrir’s financial 
performance and the performance of the Company’s core assets. All significant matters concerning the Company are discussed 
at Board meetings. 

Board Members
The Board Members of Eyrir Invest are Thordur Magnusson, Jon Helgi Gudmundsson, Sigurjon Jonsson, Olafur Steinn 
Gudmundsson, Svanhvit Hrolfsdottir and Ingolfur Gudmundsson.

Management team
Arni Oddur Thordarson, who has been CEO of Eyrir Invest from foundation left the company in late October 2013 as he was then 
appointed CEO of Marel. The Board of Directors of Eyrir Invest consequently changed the organizational set-up in Eyrir Invest so 
that the management responsibilities are split between three Directors. Margret Jonsdottir is Managing Director of Operations, 
Sigfus Oddsson is Managing Director of Funding and Orn Valdimarsson is Managing Director of Investments. Information on 
the Managing Directors can be found in the Our Team chapter of this report.

The business address of Eyrir Invest is Skolavordustigur 13, 101 Reykjavik, Iceland.

Sigurjon JonssonJon Helgi Gudmundsson Olafur Steinn GudmundssonThordur Magnusson Svanhvit HrolfsdottirIngolfur Gudmundsson

Shareholders, board of directors and management team
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Thordur Magnusson 
Magnusson was CFO at Eimskip for over two decades before co-
founding Eyrir Invest. Today Magnusson chairs the Board of 
SagaMedica, Handpoint and ReMake Electric and holds a seat on the 
boards of many companies, including Stork, Byko and Norvik. He 
served on the Board of Directors of Össur hf. until March 2013. 
Magnusson is a board member of the Iceland Chamber of Commerce 
and the University of Reykjavik. Magnusson taught both International 
Marketing and International Finance subjects in the business faculty of 
the University of Iceland. Magnusson holds an MBA degree from the 
University of Minnesota and a Business degree from the University of 
Iceland.
Elected: 2000 
Holdings in Eyrir Invest, including those of financially related parties: 201.639.200

Jon Helgi Gudmundsson 
Gudmundsson is the Chairman and CEO of Norvik, a company which 
runs several retail stores in Iceland as well as timber industries and 
logistics facilities and services across Europe. Gudmundsson and his 
family run Norvik hf. and Smaragardur ehf. Smaragardur ehf. is a real 
estate company. Gudmundsson has a Cand. Oecon degree in Business 
Administration from the University of Iceland and has also studied at 
Penn State University.
Elected: 2006. Holdings in Eyrir Invest, including those of financially related parties: 0

Svanhvit Hrolfsdottir
Hrolfsdottir is CFO of LNS Saga, a construction company which has its 
main operations in Norway. She holds a degree in Business 
Administration, business subject Accounting (Cand. Oecon.), from the 
University of Iceland and furthermore holds a MS degree in Corporate 
Finance from the same university. Hrolfsdottir has held a position as a 
CFO, CEO and a member of a Board of Directors for a domestic whole-
sale importing company, as well as being a director and involved in the 
management of various start-up companies in Iceland.
Elected: 2013. Holdings in Eyrir Invest, including those of financially related parties: 0

Dr. Olafur Steinn Gudmundsson 
Dr. Gudmundsson has held various senior level management posi-
tions within R&D in the pharmaceutical industry in the US and is a 
board member of Marel (2014). He is an active investor within the area 
of pharmaceutics and biotechnology. Dr. Gudmundsson is also associ-
ated with the Pharmaceutical Chemistry department at Purdue 
University in the US. Dr Gudmundsson holds a doctorate degree in 
Pharmaceutical Chemistry from the University of Kansas and a 
Pharmacy degree from the University of Iceland.
Elected: 2008 

Holdings in Eyrir Invest by  financially related parties: 26.500.000

Sigurjon Jonsson 
Jonsson is the principal owner and Chairman of Skipavik shipyard and 
a building contractor in Stykkisholmur, Iceland. Jonsson previously 
owned and operated Raekjunes, a fishing and scallops processing 
company. 
Elected: 2006 

Holdings in Eyrir Invest, including those of financially related parties: 81.102.200

Ingolfur Gudmundsson 
Gudmundsson has an extensive and broad experience within banking, 
pension funds and managing of other financial institutions. 
Gudmundsson has through his career held numerous management 
positions in Landsbanki. Most notably he has held the positions of 
Marketing Director, Regional and Head Office Branch Manager as well 
as Managing Director for both Retail and Private Banking. His work 
has included development and marketing of financial instruments 
both in Iceland and Canada. Subsequently Gudmundsson worked as a 
Managing Director for the Engineers’ Pension Fund. Gudmundsson 
has held board positions of numerous Icelandic companies and 
organizations.
Elected: 2013 

Holdings in Eyrir Invest, including those of financially related parties: 0

Shareholders, board of directors and management team
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Social responsibility can be defined as transparent and moral 
conduct that:

• Creates value for shareholders, other stakeholders 
and the community

• Supports sustainability, including the health and 
welfare of society

• Follows laws and is in accordance with internationally 
established conduct

• Is honoured in all the company’s interactions

Eyrir Invest’s strategy is to be a leading investor in the compa-
nies it invests in and to build strong relationships with other 
investors in each company. 

As a major shareholder, Eyrir Invest supports and encourages 
its principle holdings in pursuing an ambitious strategy 
towards investment in R&D. It is Eyrir Invest’s firm belief that 
healthy investments in innovation create the fundamentals for 
continued value creation and are a prerequisite for a sustainable 
competitive advantage. Eyrir’s investments are in companies 
that constantly endeavour to make products that save energy, 
reduce waste and are environmentally friendly. 

Eyrir Invest is committed to high standards of corporate 
governance, social responsibility, business integrity and 
professionalism in all its activities. Eyrir Invest also encourages 

the management of all of its core holdings to honour all 
stakeholders and apply the highest standards of corporate 
governance and social conduct. 

Eyrir Invest believes in open and honest communications with 
stakeholders and is committed to supporting the community 
through grants and donations.

Eyrir Invest has always invested in venture companies and 
supported the start-up community in Iceland. Starting a new 
business is not an easy task and Eyrir Invest’s support in this 
regard is both of a financial and a professional nature. The 
scope and possibilities for value creation are endless at the 
venture capital level, but the risk is also substantial. In 2011 
Eyrir Invest founded an independent investment company, 
Eyrir Sprotar slhf.; the purpose of the new company is to invest 
in prominent growth companies. Eyrir Sprotar will focus on 
supporting promising ventures for international growth and 
value creation.

In the past years Eyrir Invest has sponsored various projects at 
all levels of education and donated multiple grants to charities. 
Each year donations are made to numerous charities, including 
the Red Cross, Mothers in Need and various other organizations 
that assist low-income families in troubled times.

Social responsibility

Eyrir Invest believes that companies and institutions should be responsible for their 
impact on the population and the environment.  Responsible companies strive consistently 
to ensure that their operations have a positive influence on their surroundings.
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The rules on Corporate Governance  
In general the Company is in compliance with the Icelandic Guidelines on Corporate Governance, issued in 
March 2012 by the Iceland Chamber of Commerce, the Confederation of Icelandic Employers and NASDAQ 
OMX Iceland, in accordance with Clause 2.26 in the Rules for issuers of financial instruments on NASDAQ OMX 
Iceland, effective as of 17 December 2013. The Guidelines can be found on the Iceland Chamber of Commerce 
website, www.chamber.is.  

The Board
The Board consists of five to seven Directors which are elected annually at the Annual General Meeting. 
Currently the Board consists of six Board Members. Thordur Magnusson is the Chairman of the Board and has 
served on the Board since the Company was founded in the year 2000. Other directors are: Jon Helgi 
Gudmundsson, Dr. Olafur Steinn Gudmundsson, Sigurjon Jonsson, Svanhvit Hrolfsdottir and Ingolfur 
Gudmundsson. All of the Board Members have vast experience in board participation and information on them 
can be found on page 34.

The Board of Directors has established written rules of procedure where the Board’s tasks, and its role in relation 
to the the Managing Directors, are laid out. The current rules of procedure were adopted on 18 December 2009 
and reviewed in March 2013. Board Members’ rules stipulate among other things the convening of Board meet-
ings, comprehensive rules on Board Members’ suitability to participate in handling matters concerning the 
Company’s operations, rules on confidentiality, information provided to the Board by the Managing Directors 
and further rules.

For the operational year 2013, the Board of Directors held ten Board meetings and two meetings of the 
Remuneration Committee. Audit Committee meetings coincide with Board meetings. On all occasions the 
majority of the Board members and Committee members were present. 

According to the Board of Directors best knowledge the Company’s Financial Statements are in compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and good accountancy practices. The Company prepares 
interim Financial Statements, monitors risk on a regular basis, secures the segregation of duties and dictates 
work processes in order to minimize risk in the Company’s operations.

Corporate Governance Statement

Eyrir’s values are Long-term thinking, Endurance, Courage and Integrity. These values 
reflect the culture of the company and how it conducts its business.
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External audit 
An auditing firm is elected at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) for a term of 
one year. The auditor shall examine the Company’s annual accounts in accord-
ance with international standards on auditing, and shall, for this purpose, 
inspect account records and other material relating to the operation and finan-
cial position of the Company. The auditors shall at all times have access to all 
of the Company’s books, minutes and documents. KPMG ehf. was elected as 
the Company’s auditor at the 2013 AGM. The auditor on its behalf is Matthias 
Thor Oskarsson, State Authorized Public Accountant. He has audited and 
signed without reservation Eyrir’s consolidated financial statements for the 
year 2013.

Internal control 
Risk management and internal controls, in relation to all processes, are 
designed to control the risk of material misstatements. The Company designs 
its processes to ensure that there are no material weaknesses with internal 
controls that could lead to a material misstatement in its financial reporting. 
The auditor’s evaluation of these processes is included in the Auditor’s Report.

Appointment of sub-committee members 
Sub-committee members are appointed by the Board of Directors for a term of 
one year.

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee is composed of all Board Members, unless the Board of 
Directors decides otherwise. The majority of the Audit Committee shall be 
independent of the Company, Executive Management and the Company’s 
Auditor. At least one member shall be independent of major shareholders. The 
Members of the Audit Committee shall possess the knowledge and expertise 
needed to perform the tasks of the Audit Committee. At least one member 

shall have solid knowledge and experience in the field of financial statements 
or auditing.

Remuneration Committee
All Board Members except the Chairman comprise the Remuneration 
Committee. The Board of Directors evaluates, at least once a year, the perfor-
mance of the Managing Directors. 

It is Eyrir’s policy to attract highly competent professionals and offer competive 
compensation. Eyrir Invest encourages its employees to increase their knowl-
edge consistently, particularly by continuous education. 

Departures from the Icelandic Guidelines on 
Corporate Governance
The Board of Directors has not issued a specific written code of ethics and 
social responsibility for the Company as yet. The Board of Directors has not 
established a nomination committee as it deems it not necessary. The 
Chairman of the Board’s day-to-day activities within the Company are exclu-
sively related to the venture holdings in Eyrir Sprotar. 

Independence 
According to the Icelandic Chamber of Commerce Guidelines the majority of 
Directors must be independent of the Company and its day-to-day managers.  
The majority of the Board of Directors are independent of the Company and 
major shareholders. Thordur Magnusson, Chairman and co-founder of Eyrir, 
holds a major share in the Company.

Corporate Governance Statement
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Eyrir Invest hf. is an international investment company that focuses on 
investments in industrial companies and ventures that have the potential 
to become global market leaders. Through leadership these companies are 
able to create economies of scale and value for customers, employees and 
shareholders. The Company began its operation on 8 June 2000.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Inter
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and 
additional Icelandic disclosure requirements for financial statements of 
listed companies. The Company's functional currency is EUR.

Operations in 2013

According to the statement of comprehensive income, loss for the year 
amounted to EUR 18.7 million and total comprehensive loss amounted 
to EUR 19.2 million. As stated in the statement of financial position total 
assets amount to EUR 333.9 million, equity at the end of the year amounts 
to EUR 168.9 million and equity ratio is 51%.

The Company's core holdings are a 29% share in Marel hf. and a 17% 
holding in Stork BV through London Acquisition Luxco S.à r.l. Stork owns 
and operates Fokker Technologies and Stork Technical Services. From 1 
January 2013, Fokker Technologies and Stork Technical Services have 
separate corporate governance and financing. Eyrir Invest has been the 
principal shareholder in Marel hf. since 2005, a period of rapid external 
and internal growth. Eyrir Invest furthermore invests in prominent growth 
companies through its venture capital subsidiary, Eyrir Sprotar slhf, which 
is the lead investor in ReMake Electric, an expert in energy metering and 
energy management soulutions, and Saga Medica, a natural products 
manufacturer.

• Marel is a leading global provider of advanced equipment, systems and 
services for the poultry, fish and meat processing industry. Marel has 
offices and subsidiaries in over 30 countries and employs approximately 
4,000 people. Marel's revenues in 2013 amounted to EUR 662 million. 

Marel is the largest listed company on NASDAQ OMX Iceland and 
99% of its revenues derive outside Iceland.

• Stork Technical Services (Stork TS) is a world class, knowledgebased 
service provider to the oil, gas, power and chemical industries. Stork 
TS roots date back 185 years and the company holds strong position 
in the technical services market focusing increasingly on customers 
in the energy industry. Stork TS has grown its customer base and 
geographical presence both organiclly and through acquisitions. Stork 
TS employs around 14,500 employees dedicated to serve the oil, gas 
and power businesses in Benelux, North Sea, Caspian region, Middle 
East and North and South America. Revenues in 2013 were around 
EUR 1,440 million.

• Fokker Technologies is a tier one supplier to the aerospace industry 
with customers such as Boeing, Airbus, Lockheed Martin and Gulf 
Stream counting for 80% of total revenues.  Fokker Technologies is 
also a provider of service and spare parts to discontinued production 
fleet such as Fokker, that counts for 20%  of total revenues. Employees 
are around 4,000 and revenues were EUR 760 million in 2013.

At the beginning of the year 2013, new B shares for the total amount of 
EUR 15.7 million were issued, the purpose of the issuance was to further 
strengthen the financials of the Company.

On 30 September 2013, the Company repurchased listed bond issue Eyri 
11 1 and has no longer any listed financial instrument on NASDAQ OMX 
Iceland.

Eyrir Invest book value of its share in Stork via London Acquisition is 
according to fair value method for nonlisted assets; using comparable 
transaction multiples and trading multiples.

The Company's shares in Marel are accounted for at fair value according to 
fair value method for listed assets; using quoted price on NASDAQ OMX 
Iceland hf.

Endorsement and Statement by the Board of Directors and the Managing Directors
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Árni Oddur Þórðarson Eyrir's CEO since foundation resigned at the end of 
October 2013 as he was at that time appointed CEO of Marel hf. The Board 
of Directors consequently changed the organizational setup in Eyrir Invest 
so that the management responsibililties are split between three Managing 
Directors. Margrét Jónsdóttir is Managing Director of Operations, Sigfús 
Oddsson is Managing Director of Funding and Örn Valdimarsson is 
Managing Director of Investments.

The Company average number of full time equivalent employees during 
the year is eight.

Information on risk management are presented in the notes to the Financial 
Accounts. Eyrir Invest aims to reduce risk by diversifying its holdings to 
different growth industries, see further note 5.

The Board

The Board consists of five to seven Directors which are elected annually 
at the Annual General Meeting. Þórður Magnússon is the Chairman of 
the Board and has served on the Board since the Company was founded 
in the year 2000. Other Directors are: Jón Helgi Guðmundsson, Dr. 
Ólafur Steinn Guðmundsson, Sigurjón Jónsson, Svanhvít Hrólfsdóttir and 
Ingólfur Guðmundsson.

The majority of the Board is independent of the Company and its major 
shareholders. Þórður Magnússon, Chairman, is a cofounder of Eyrir Invest 
and holds a major share in the Company. Árni Oddur Þórðarson, former 
CEO of the Company, is also a cofounder of the Company and defined as 
a major shareholder.

Corporate governance

The Company's Corporate Governance policy is based on the Guidelines 
on Corporate Governance issued in March 2012 by the Icelandic Chamber 
of Commerce, NASDAQ OMX Iceland hf. and Confederation of Icelandic 

Employers. The Guidelines can be found on the Iceland Chamber of 
Commerce's website, www.vi.is.  In general, the Company is in compliance 
with the Icelandic Guidelines on Corporate Governance and places great 
emphasis on having all information regarding its operations and actions 
transparent. However the Company deviates from the Guidelines regarding 
a nomination committee as the Board of Directors has not established 
such a committee as it deems it not necessary.

The Board of Directors has established written rules of procedure where 
the Board's tasks are laid out and its role in relation to the Managing 
Directors. Current rules of procedure were adopted on 18 December 
2009 and reviewed on 26 March 2013. These rules stipulate among other 
things the convening of Board meetings, comprehensive rules on Board 
member's suitability to participate in handling matters concerning the 
Company's operations, rules on confidentiality, information provided to 
the Board by the Managing Directors and further rules.

According to the Board of Directors best knowledge the Company's 
Financial Statements are in compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and good accountancy practices. The Company 
prepares interim Financial Statements and monitors risk on a regular basis 
and secures segregation of duties and dictates work processes in order 
to minimize risk in the Company's operations. The Board, as a whole, 
comprises the Audit Committee which task is to ensure the quality of 
the Company's financial information. All Board members excluding the 
Chairman comprise the Remuneration Committee.

For the operational year 2013, the Board of Directors held ten Board 
meetings and two meetings in the Remuneration Committee.  Audit 
Committee meetings coincide with Board meetings.  On all occasions the 
majority of the Board members and Committee members were present.

Endorsement and Statement by the Board of Directors and the Managing Directors, cont’d.
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Shareholders and appropriation of profit

Shareholders at yearend were 20,  up from 16 at the beginning of the year. 
Ten largest ordinary shareholders are:

  31.12.2013 31.12.2012

 Landsbankinn hf. *  23.2% 23.3%

 Þórður Magnússon* 20.0% 20.2%

 Árni Oddur Þórðarson* 17.3% 17.3%

 Lífeyrissjóður verslunarmanna 10.0% 10.0%

 Sigurjón Jónsson  8.0% 8.2%

 Landsbankinn Íslands hf., aðalstöð  6.9% 6.9%

 Landsbankinn Luxembourg  3.0% 3.0%

 Arkur ehf.  2.6% 2.6%

 Klondike Group Ltd.  2.4% 2.4%

 Ayette Ltd.  2.2% 2.2%

*Shares held by Landsbankinn hf., Þórður Magnússon, Árni Oddur 
Þórðarson and by companies fully under their control and ownership.  
Þórður Magnússon is Chairman of the Board.

The Board of Directors proposes that no dividends will be paid for the 
operational year 2013 and refers to the financial statements regarding 
appropriation of the loss for the year and changes in shareholders' equity.

Statement by the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Directors

According to our best knowledge it is our opinion that the Financial 
Statements give a true and fair view of the financial performance of the 
Company for the financial year 2013, its assets, liabilities and financial 
position as at 31 December 2013 and its cash flows for the financial year 
2013.

Further, in our opinion the Financial Statements and Endorsement of 
the Board of Directors and the Managing Directors give a fair view of 
the development and performance of the Company's operations and its 
position and describes the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the 
Company.

The Board of Directors and the Managing Directors have today discussed 
the Financial Statements of Eyrir Invest hf. for the year 2013 and confirm 
them by means of their signatures. The Board of Directors and the 
Managing Directors recommend that the Financial Statements will be 
approved at the Annual General Meeting of Eyrir Invest hf.

Reykjavík, 8 February 2014. 

The Board of Directors:

Endorsement and Statement by the Board of Directors and the Managing Directors, cont’d.

Managing directors:  
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Eyrir Invest hf.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Eyrir Invest hf., 
which  comprise  the  statement  of financial position as at 31 December 
2013, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting principles used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of Eyrir Invest hf. as at 31 December 2013, and of its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the EU.

Report on the Board of Directors report
Pursuant to the legal requirement under Article 104, Paragraph 2 of the 
Icelandic Financial Statement Act No. 3/2006, we confirm that, to the best 
of our knowledge, the report of the Board of Directors accompanying the 
financial statements includes the information required by the Financial  
Statement Act if not disclosed  elsewhere in the Financial Statements. 

Reykjavik, 8 February 2014.

KPMG ehf.

Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year 2013 

Notes 2013 2012
Investment income

Change in fair value of investment securities ( 13,810 ) ( 7,992 )

Change in fair value of subsidiaries 96 ( 5 )

Dividend income  2,361 2,489

Interest expenses ( 11,632 ) ( 10,923 )

Interest income 662  395 

Net foreign exchange gain 5,171 3,430 

Net investment loss ( 17,152 ) ( 12,606 )

Operating expenses

Salaries and salary related expenses 6 1,014 987 
Other operating expenses 489 555 

Operating expenses 1,503 
 

1,542  

Loss for the year  ( 18,655 ) ( 14,148 )

  

Other comprehensive income
Translation difference transferred to profit or loss ( 554 ) ( 370 )

Other comprehensive income for the year ( 554 ) ( 370 )

Total comprehensive income for the year ( 19,209 ) ( 14,518 )

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share (expressed in EUR cent) 13 ( 2.01 ) ( 1.37 )

  

The notes on pages 48 to 71 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2013

Notes 2013 2012
Assets  

Cash and cash equivalents 7 2,637 775 
Investment securities 9 326,691 364,473 
Receivables 10 2,580 2,820 
Restricted cash 8 13 13 
Operating assets 11 1,934 2,034 

Total assets 333,855 370,115 

Equity

Share capital 6,570 5,947 
Share premium 112,706 97,623 
Translation reserve 4,262 4,816 
Retained earnings 45,360 64,015 

 Total equity 12 168,898 172,401 

Liabilities

Borrowings 14,15 164,806 194,504 
Trade and other payables 151 3,210 

Total liabilities 164,957 197,714 

Total equity and liabilities 333,855 370,115 

The notes on pages 48 to 71 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year 2013

Notes
Share

capital*
Share

premium
Translation

reserve
Retained 
earnings

Total
equity

2012

Equity 1.1.2012 6,546 112,598 5,186 78,163 202,493 

Treasury shares purchased  ( 599 ) ( 14,975 ) ( 15,574 )

Total comprehensive loss for the year ( 370 ) ( 14,148 ) ( 14,518 )

Equity 31.12.2012 12 5,947 97,623 4,816 64,015 172,401 

2013

Equity 1.1.2013 5,947 97,623 4,816 64,015 172,401 

Issue of B shares 12  623   15,083   15,706  

Total comprehensive loss for the year ( 554 ) ( 18,655 ) ( 19,209 )

Equity 31.12.2013 12 6,570 112,706 4,262 45,360 168,898 

*Share capital 31.12.13 31.12.12

A shares 5,947 5,947 

B shares 623

Total share capital  6,570 5,947 

The notes on pages 48 to 71 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year 2013
Notes 2013 2012

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year ( 18,655 ) ( 14,148 )

 Adjustments for:
Change in fair value of investment securities 13,810  7,992  
Change in fair value of subsidiaries ( 96 ) 5  
Depreciation 11  55  76  
Interest expenses 11,632  10,923  
Dividend income ( 2,361 ) ( 2,489 )
Interest income ( 662 ) ( 395 )
Net foreign exchange gain  ( 5,171 ) ( 3,430 )

Working capital used in operations ( 1,448 ) ( 1,466 )

Change in operating assets and liabilities  102   ( 641 )

Cash used in operations before interest ( 1,346 ) ( 2,107 )

Interest paid ( 15,960 ) ( 7,326 )
Interest received 659  394  
Dividends received 2,361  2,489  

Net cash used in operating activities ( 14,286 ) ( 6,550 )
Cash flows from investing activities

Restricted cash, decrease  0  1,042  
Investments in subsidiaries ( 1,860 ) ( 1,247 )
Investments in shares in other companies ( 3,000 ) ( 20,515 )
Proceeds from the sale of investment securities 25,453  16,906  
Proceeds from the sale of operating assets 62   0
Acquisition of operating assets 11 ( 17 ) ( 28 )

Net cash from (used in) investing activities 20,638  ( 3,842 )
Cash flows from financing activities

New borrowings 832  35,551  
Share capital sold 15,706  15,377  
Own shares purchased 19 0  ( 15,574 )
Repayment of borrowings ( 21,599 ) ( 33,161 )

Net cash (used in) from financing activities ( 5,061 ) 2,193  

 Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  1,291  ( 8,199 )

 Effect of exchange fluctuations on cash held 571  ( 445 )

 Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 775  9,419  

 Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  7 2,637  775  

Investing and financing activities without cash flow effect

Investment in shares in other companies  0  ( 3,000 )
Unpaid investment in shares in other companies 0 3,000  

The notes on pages 48 to 71 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Reporting Entity
Eyrir Invest hf. (the "Company") is a limited liability company incorporated 
and domiciled in Iceland. The registered office of the Company is at 
Skólavörðustígur 13 in Reykjavík, Iceland.

Eyrir Invest hf. is an international investment company that focuses on 
investments in industrial companies and ventures that have the potential 
to become global market leaders. Through leadership these companies 
are able to create economies of scale and value for customers, employees 
and shareholders.

The Company’s management has concluded that the Company meets 
the definition of an investment entity according to IFRS. Therefore, the 
Company‘s investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at fair value 
through profit or loss and subsidiaries are not consolidated in these 

financial statements.

2. Basis of preparation
Assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position are presented 
in liquidity order which is considered more appropriate for the Company 
than the current/noncurrent presentation. For each asset and liability 
item that combines amounts expected to be recovered or settled after 
more than 12 months, a payment schedule is disclosed.

a. Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by 
the EU and additional Icelandic disclosure requirements for financial 
statements of listed companies. These financial statements are separate 
financial statements and the Company does not present consolidated 
financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of 
Eyrir Invest hf. on 8 February 2014.

b. Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis  
except for investment in investments securities and subsidiaries, which 
are measured at fair value with fair value changes recognised in profit 
or loss.

The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in note 3b.

c. Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the Company's 
functional currency. All financial information presented in Euro has been 
rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

d. Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation 
uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the 
financial statements is described in note 4i.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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3. Accounting policies related to financial instruments
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all 
periods presented in these consolidated Financial Statements.

a. Financial instruments
(i) Non-derivative f inancial instruments
Nonderivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and 
debt securities, loans and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, 
borrowings, trade and other payables.

Nonderivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value 
plus, for instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non
derivative financial instruments are measured as described below.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash held at bank.

Accounting for finance income and expenses is discussed in note 3c.

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
The Company designates its investment securities and subsidiaries 
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition since the Company manages the investment securities and 
makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value. Upon initial 
recognition attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss 
when incurred. Financial assets designated at fair value through profit 
or loss are measured at fair value and changes therein are recognised in 
profit or loss.

Other
Other nonderivative financial instruments are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses for 
financial assets.

(ii) Share capital
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly 

attributable to issue of shares and share options are recognised as a 
deduction from equity.

B shares (preference shares)
B shares are classified as equity. B shares are nonredemable but B 
shares have priority to dividend over A shares until B shares have received 
dividend amounting to ISK 2.60 per share on a yearly basis starting on 1 
February 2013 and ISK 3.90 per share starting on 1 February 2018.  B shares 
carry limited voting rights and shareholders holding B shares can at any 
time demand that the Company convert all of the holdings of individual B 
shareholders into class A shares. Incremental costs directly attributable to 
issue of B shares are recognised as a deduction from equity.

Repurchase of share capital
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount 
of the consideration paid, which includes directly attributable costs, is 
recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified 
as treasury shares and are presented as a deduction from total equity. 
When treasury shares are sold subsequently, the amount received is 
recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on 
the transaction is transferred to or from share premium.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a decrease in equity in the period in which 
they are declared.

b. Fair value measurement principles for financial instruments
A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures 
require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non
financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for 
measurement and / or disclosure purposes based on the following 
methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions 
made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to 
that asset or liability.

Investment securities in the statement of financial position consist 
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of investments in equity and debt securities. The fair value of listed 
securities in an active market is determined by reference to their 
quoted market bid price at the reporting date without any deduction for 
estimated future selling costs.

When a quoted market price is not available on a stock exchange or 
from a broker / dealer for nonexchangetraded financial instruments, 
the fair value of the investment is estimated using valuation techniques, 
including use of recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to 
the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the 
same, discounted cash flow techniques, option pricing models or any 
other valuation technique that provides a reliable estimate of prices 
obtained in actual market transactions.

(i) Investment securities
Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash 
flows are based on management’s best estimates and the discount rate 
used is a market rate at the reporting date applicable for an instrument 
with similar terms and conditions. Where other pricing models are used, 
inputs are based on market data at the reporting date. Fair values for 
unquoted equity investments are estimated, if possible, using applicable 
price / earnings ratios for similar listed companies adjusted to reflect the 
specific circumstances of the issuer.

(ii) Receivables
The fair value of receivables, which is determined for disclosure purposes, 
is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the 
market rate of interest at the reporting date.

(iii) Non-derivative f inancial liabilities
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated 
based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, 
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

c. Investment income
(i) Net income from securities
Net income from investments in securities comprise net gain or loss 
on the sale of securities, changes in the fair value of the investments, 
foreign exchange differences other than foreign exchange economic 
hedges, transaction costs, dividend income and interest income. 
Dividend income is recognised in profit and loss on the date the entity's 
right to receive payments is established.

(ii) Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense, are recognised in profit  or loss using 
the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument to the carrying 
amount of the financial instrument.

(iii) Foreign exchange gain (loss)
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) comprises foreign exchange changes 
arising from assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
and gains and losses arising from derivatives hedging economically the 
foreign currency risk. Net currency gains and losses are reported on a 
net basis.

3. Cont’d.
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4. Other accounting policies
a. Foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency 
of the Company at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate 
ruling at that date. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation 
are recognised in profit or loss as net foreign exchange gain or loss, except 
for those arising on financial instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss, which are recognised as a component of net gain from financial 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

b. Subsidiaries
An subsidiary is an entity over which the Company has control over. The 
Company controls an investee when the company is exposed, or has rights, 
to variable returns from its investment in the investee and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Subsidiaries 
are not consolidated and are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

c. Operating assets
(i) Buildings and other operating assets
Buildings and other operating assets are measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
asset.

(ii) Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing part of an item of operating asset is recognised in 
the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic 
benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised. All other costs are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income as an expense as incurred.
 

(iii) Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in the profit and loss on a straightline basis 
over the estimated useful live of each part of operating assets. The 
estimated useful lives are as follows:

  Buildings   50 years  
  Other operating assets 35 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at 
each reporting date.

d. Impairment
(i) Financial assets
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed 
at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective 
evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired 
if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative 
effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised 
cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount, and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. All impairment losses are recognised in profit and 
loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to 
an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. For financial 
assets measured at amortised cost, the reversal is recognised in profit 
and loss.

The carrying amounts of the Company’s nonfinancial assets are reviewed 
at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated.
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An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. A cashgenerating unit is the 
smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely 
are independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

(ii) Non-f inancial assets
The recoverable amount of an asset or cashgenerating unit is the greater 
of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pretax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each 
reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer 
exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

e. Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a postemployment benefit plan under 
which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have 
no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for 
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an 
employee benefit expense in profit and loss when they are incurred.

f. Income tax expense
Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. Income tax 
expense is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, 
using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date, and 
any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing 
for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which the temporary difference can 
be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and 
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realised.

g. Earnings per share
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data 
for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit 
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable 
to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares.

h. Changes in accounting policies
The Company has adopted all new standards and amendments to 
standards, including any consequential amendments to other standards 
as they have been endorsed by the EU, with a date of initial application of 
1 January 2013. The Company has also early adopted Amendments to IFRS 
10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and IAS 27. Only the adoption of IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurments and IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements have any 
effect on the Company's financial statements.

IFRS 13 establishes a single framework for measuring fair value and 
making disclosure about fair value measurement. The implementation of 
IFRS 13 does not have any effect on the fair value of the Group's assets but 
has effect of the disclosures of investment securities.

4. Cont’d.
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4. Cont’d.

IFRS 10 allows investments funds to measure subsidiaries at fair value 
through profit or loss and not consolidate subsidiaries. As the Company 
fullfills all the criteria set forward in the standard the Company has 
implimented that change and measures subsidiaries at fair value through 
profit and loss and does not present consolidated financial statements.

i. Accounting estimates and judgements
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Determination of fair values of financial instruments 
As stated in note 3b the Company’s investment securities, subsidiaries 
and derivatives are measured at fair value in the statement of financial 
position. For some of these financial instruments, quoted market prices 
are readily available. However, certain financial instruments, for example, 
overthecounter derivatives or unquoted securities are fair valued using 
valuation techniques, including reference to the current fair values of other 
instruments that are substantially the same, subject to the appropriate 
adjustments.

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on 
market conditions and information about the financial instrument. These 
estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters 
of significant judgement, e.g. interest rates, volatility, estimated cash 
flows etc., and therefore, cannot be  determined  with precision.

Determination of impairment of financial assets
Assets accounted for at amortised cost are evaluated for impairment 
on the basis described in accounting policy 4d(i). The assessment for 
impairment is based upon management’s best estimate of the present 
value of the cash flows that are expected to be received. In estimating 
these cash flows, management makes judgements about a counterparty’s 
financial situation and the net realisable value of any underlying collateral.

Determination of impairment of non-financial assets
Nonfinancial assets are regularly valuated for impairment. The assess
ment for impairment is based upon management’s estimates of future 
cash flows and discount rate.

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Company’s accounting 
policies 

Classif ication of securities
The Company’s accounting policies provide scope for securities to be 
designated at fair value through profit or loss. By making this designation, 
the management has determined that it has met the necessary criteria  as  
set  out  in accounting policy 3a(i).
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5. Financial risk management
Overview
The Company maintains, when available, positions in both derivative and 
nonderivative financial instruments in accordance with its investment 
strategy. The Company's investment  portfolio  comprises  quoted  and  
nonquoted equity and debt investments. At yearend 2013, the Company 
holds no positions in derivative financial instruments.

The Company’s investing activities expose it to various types of risk that 
are associated with the financial instruments and markets in which it 
invests. The most important types of financial risk to which the Company 
is exposed from its use of financial instruments are:

• credit risk
• liquidity risk
• market risk

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each 
of the above risks, the Company’s objectives, policies and processes 
for measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s management of 
capital.

The Board of Directors of the Company has overall responsibility for the 
establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management. The 
Board has commended the Managing Directors day to day developing 
and monitoring of the Company’s risk management policies.

The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and 
analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and 
controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management 
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market 
conditions and the Company’s activities. The Company, through its 
training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a 
disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees 
understand their roles and obligations.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a counterparty 

to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The 
Company aims to minimize this risk factor by only entering agreements 
with solid and well known financial institutions in addition to closely 
monitoring the credit risk on an ongoing basis.

Transactions involving derivative financial instruments are usually with 
counterparties with whom the Company has signed master netting 
agreements. Master netting agreements provide for the net settlement 
of contracts with the same counterparty in the event of default. The 
impact of the master netting agreements is to reduce credit risk.

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum 
credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting 
date was:

Carrying amount

 2013 2012

Cash and cash equivalents 2,637 775 

Receivables 2,580 2,820 

Restricted cash 13 13 

5,230 3,608 

Past due and impaired assets
No financial assets carried at amortised cost were past due or 
impaired either at 31 December 2013 or 31 December 2012.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in 
meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are 
settled by delivering cash or another financial assets. The Company’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due and thus secure 
sustainability.



Amounts are in EUR thousand Eyrir Invest 2013 Annual Report | 55

The Company's financial instruments can include investments in unlisted equity investments and derivative contracts traded overthecounter, which are 
not traded in an organised public market and which generally may be illiquid. As a result, the Company may not be able to liquidate quickly some of its 
investments in these instruments at an amount close to its fair value in order to meet its liquidity requirements, or to respond to specific events such as 
a deterioration in the creditworthiness of any particular issuer. Unlisted investment securities were 43.9% of total assets at yearend 2013 (2012: 44.2%).

To mitigate this risk the Company has a policy of adequate cash at any given time and in addition to that having a large part of its asset in listed financial 
investments, that are considered to be readily realisable in normal market conditions.

The Company maintains no lines of credit with financial institutions at yearend 2013.
 
Maturity analysis for f inancial liabilities
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated future interest payments:

31 December 2013 Carrying
amount 

Contractual
cash flows

Less than
1 year

1 - 2
years

2 - 5
years

More than
5 years

Financial liabilities:      

Secured bank loans 164,806 193,183 10,583 40,904 138,298 3,398

Trade and other payables 151 151 151 0 0 0

164,957 193,334 10,734 40,904 138,298 3,398

31 December 2012 Carrying
amount 

Contractual
cash flows

Less than
1 year

1 - 2
years

2 - 5
years

More than
5 years

Financial liabilities:      

Secured bank loans*) 188,173 213,409 43,623 133,749 26,493 9,544 

Unsecured bonds 6,331 6,498 617 5,881 0 0 

Trade and other payables 3,210 3,210 3,210 0 0 0 

197,714 223,117 47,450 139,630 26,493 9,544 

5. Cont’d.
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Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Company’s income or the 
value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return. The Company’s market risk is managed by the employees in accordance with policies and procedures in place.

Details of the Company’s investment portfolio at the reporting date are disclosed in the schedule of investments included in note 9.

(i)Currency risk
The Company is exposed to currency risk on sales and investment in securites, cash, and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the Company.

The Company’s total net currency balance is monitored on a regular basis and treated as any other calculated financial position.

The Company´s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts:

31 December 2013 ISK USD GBP Other

Investment securities   183,489 0 0 302 

Receivables 779 1,790 0 0 

Cash and equivalents 2,598 25 0 1 

Restricted cash 13 0 0 0 

Borrowings ( 50,575 ) ( 39,860 ) ( 6,476 ) ( 1,497 )

Trade and other payables ( 210 ) 0 0 0 

Net balance sheet exposure 136,094 ( 38,045 ) ( 6,476 ) ( 1,194 )

31 December 2012 ISK USD GBP Other

Investment securities  202,133 0 0 343 

Receivables 941 1,870 0 0 

Cash and equivalents 751 0 0 1 

Restricted cash 13 0 0 0 

Borrowings ( 50,751 ) ( 44,628 ) ( 7,274 ) ( 4,744 )

Trade and other payables ( 150 ) 0 0 0 

Net balance sheet exposure 152,937 ( 42,758 ) ( 7,274 ) ( 4,400 )

5. Cont’d.



Amounts are in EUR thousand Eyrir Invest 2013 Annual Report | 57

(i)Currency risk contd.
Average rate Reporting date spot rate

2013 2012 2013 2012 

ISK  162.83 161.18 158.94 170.27

USD 1.33 1.29 1.38 1.32

GBP 0.85 0.81 0.83 0.82

Sensitivity analysis
A 10% strengthening of the euro against the following currencies at 31 December would have increased (decreased) pretax profit or loss by the amounts 
shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. This analysis is performed on the same basis for 
2012.

Profit or loss

2013 2012 

ISK  ( 13,609 ) ( 15,294 )

USD 3,805 4,276 

GBP 648 727 

Other 119 440 

A 10% weakening of the euro against the above currencies would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown 
above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

(ii)Interest rate risk
The majority of the Company’s financial assets are noninterestbearing. Interestbearing financial assets are subject to limited exposure to fair value interest 
rate risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates. The Company is exposed to interest risk from interest bearing liabilities and that 
risk is mitigated by active risk management.

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Company's interest bearing financial instruments was: 
Carrying amount

Fixed rate instruments  2013 2012 

Financial liabilities ( 5,404 ) ( 5,239 )

Variable rate instruments

Financial assets 2,650 788 

Financial liabilities ( 159,402 ) ( 189,265 )

( 156,752 ) ( 188,477 )

5. Cont’d.
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Fair value sensitivity analysis for f ixed rate instruments
The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore a change in interest rates at the 
reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

Cash f low sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) pretax profit or loss by the amounts shown below. 
This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2011. 

2013 2012
Profit or loss Profit or loss

100 bp
increase

100 bp
decrease

100 bp
increase 

100 bp
decrease 

Variable rate instruments ( 1,568 ) 1,568 ( 1,885 ) 1,885

Cash flow sensitivity (net) ( 1,568 ) 1,568 ( 1,885 ) 1,885

(iii) Other market price risk
Market price risk arises from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, primarily equity investments

Price risk is the risk that value of the instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether caused by factors specific to an individual 
investment, its issuer or all factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.

For the Company's financial assets that are carried at fair value, with fair value changes recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, all changes in 
market conditions will directly affect investment income.

Price risk is mitigated by the Company's Management by constructing a diversified portfolio of investments and instruments traded on various markets. In 
addition market fluctuations are monitored on intraday basis which enables the Company to react quickly to any changes in the market.

The Company's financial investments in shares is diversified by industries as follows: 

2013 2012

Food Systems; Marel 56% 55%

Technical services  Oil & gas; Stork 24% 25%

Aerospace services; Stork 20% 20%

100% 100%

5. Cont’d.
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(iv) Fair value
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial position, are as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Carrying
amount

Fair value
Carrying
amount

Fair value

Investment securities 326,691 326,691 364,473 364,473 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,637 2,637 775 775 

Restricted cash 13 13 13 13 

Loans and receivables  2,580   2,580  2,820 2,820 

Secured bank loans ( 164,806 ) ( 165,703 ) ( 188,173 ) ( 188,011 )

Unsecured bond issues 0 0 ( 6,331 ) ( 6,766 )

Share subscription 0 0 ( 3,000 ) ( 3,000 )

Trade and other payables ( 151 ) ( 151 ) ( 209 ) ( 209 )

 166,964   166,067   170,368   170,095  

The basis for determining fair values is disclosed in note 3.

Interest rates used for determining fair values
The interest rate used to discount estimated cash flows, where applicable, are based on the government yield curve at the reporting date plus an adequate 
credit spread, and were as follows:

2013 2012

Secured bank loans 3.1%  9.6% 4.0%  9.5%

Unsecured bond issues, indexed / nonindexed  10.5%

5. Cont’d.
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Capital management
The Board's policy is to maintain a strong capital base to sustain future development of the business. It is the strategy of the Company to pay as dividend 
10  25% of each year profit. However, in recent years no dividends have been paid to maintain a strong capital base and to support further value creation 
in the Company's core holdings. At the end of 2013 the equity ratio is 51% (2012: 47%).

The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and 
security afforded by a sound capital position. Return on equity from foundation of the Company is well above market return. However the Company’s 
return on capital was negative by 10.8% in 2013 (2012: negative by 7.0%), mainly due to adjustment in fair value of the holdings in London Acquistion 
Luxco S.à r.l. 

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year.

The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements, except when stated in loan agreements.
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Salaries and salary-related expenses

6. Salaries and salary-related expenses are specified as follows:

2013 2012

Salaries 704 674 

Contributions to defined contribution plans 84 79 

Other salaryrelated expenses 75 103 

Salaries, Board of Directors 151 131 

Total salaries and salaryrelated expenses 1,014 987 

Full time equivalent positions at the end of the year 8 8 

Average number of full time equivalent positions during the year 8 8 

Salaries to the Chairman of the Board and the CEO are specified as follows:

2013 Salaries
Other  

benefits

Defined 
contribution 

plan

Total  
salaries  

& benefits

Thordur Magnusson, Chairman of the Board 96 13 9 118 

Arni Oddur Thordarson, CEO (until November 2013) 212 19 21 252 

Salaries to three managing directors 65 0 7 72

2012 Salaries
Other  

benefits

Defined 
contribution 

plan

Total  
salaries  

& benefits

Thordur Magnusson, Chairman of the Board 81 15 7 103 

Arni Oddur Thordarson, CEO 211 22 17 250 

The managing directors and the Chairman of the Board do not have any share options at yearend 2012 and 2013. Share options can only be issued to them 
if approved by a Shareholders' meeting.
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Cash and cash equivalents

7. Cash and cash equivalents consists of bank deposits.

Restricted cash

8. Bank deposits amounting to EUR 13 thousand (2012: EUR 13 thousand) are restricted to use for the Company at yearend. Deposits are cash held by 

financial institutions as collateral for borrowings.

Investment securities

9. Investment securities are specified as follows:

Listed securities: Ownership
Fair value

31/12/2013
Ownership

Fair value
31/12/2012

Marel hf. 29.3% 180,218 33,1% 200,817 

Unlisted securities:

London Acquisition Luxco S.à r.l.* 17.0% 142,900 17,0% 162,000 

Eyrir Sprotar slhf. (Reykjavík) 100.0% 3,223 100,0% 1,268 

Eyrir Sprotar GP ehf. (Reykjavík) 100.0% 1 100,0% 1 

Other unlisted shares 349 387 

Total unlisted securities 146,473 163,656 

Fair value of investment securities at yearend 326,691 364,473

* London Acquisition Luxco S.à r.l. is a holding company owned by funds that are controlled by Arle Investments plc., Eyrir Invest hf. and several other 
investors. London Acquisition sole asset is the Dutch company Stork B.V. Stork B.V. consist of two business lines: Stork Technical Services and Fokker 
Technologies.

At period end Eyrir Invest hf. held 17.0% stake in Stork BV through London Acquisition Luxco S.à r.l.  As Stork B.V. is not listed on any stock exchange, a 
quoted market price was not available. The fair value of the investment in London Acquisition S.à r.l. was calculated by using market multiples based on 
analysis of market multiples for comparable companies and comparable transactions.

9. Contd.
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Fair value hierarchy
The table below analyses recurring fair value measurements for financial assets and financial liabilities. These fair value measurements are categorised into 
different levels in the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs to valuation techniques used. The different levels are defined as follows.

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the measurement date.
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability; either directly or indirectly. 

The group has no level 2 financial assets or liabilities.
• Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

31 December 2013 Level 1 Level 3 Total

Investment in shares 180,218 146,473 326,691

31 December 2012

Investment in shares 200,817 163,656 364,473

There were no transfers between levels during the period.

Investment in shares carried at fair values

Level 1 Level 3

Balance at 1 January 2013 200,817 163,656 

Total gains and losses for the year included in profit or loss 4,789 ( 19,043 )

Total gains and losses for the year included in other comprehensive income ( 554 ) 0 

Investments in investment securities 0 1,860 

Proceeds from sale of investment securities ( 24,834 ) 0 

Balance at 31 December 2013 180,218 146,473 

Level 3 fair values
Fair values are based on last 12 month EBITDA and on an analysis of market multiples for comparable companies and comparable transactions. The market 
multiples range from 10 to 11 at 31 December 2013 (2012: forecast EBITDA from 8 to 10).
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Receivables

10. Receivables are specified as follows:

2013 2012

Capital gain tax 613 564 

Other receivables 1,967 2,256 

Receivables 2,580 2,820 

At 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 no allowance was conceded for doubtful receivables.  No impairment loss was recognised during the years.



Amounts are in EUR thousand Eyrir Invest 2013 Annual Report | 65

Operating assets 

11. Operating assets are specified as follows:

Gross carrying amount Buildings
Other 

operating 
assets

Total 

Balance at 1.1.2012 2,110 321 2,431 

Additions during the year 19 9 28 

Balance at 31.12.2012 2,129 330 2,459 

Additions 11 6 17 

Disposals 0 ( 95 ) ( 95 )

Balance at 31.12.2013 2,140 241 2,381 

Depreciation and impairment losses    

Balance at 1.1.2012 196 153 349 

Depreciation 42 34 76 

Balance at 31.12.2012 238 187 425 

Depreciation 43 12 55 

Disposals 0 ( 33 ) ( 33 )

Balance at 31.12.2013 281 166 447 

Carrying amounts    

1.1.2012 1,914 168 2,082 

31.12.2012 1,891 143 2,034 

31.12.2013 1,859 75 1,934 

 

Depreciation ratios 2% 2030% 

The insurance value of the real estate amounted to EUR 1,359 thousand at yearend 2013 (2012: 1,227 thousand). The tax assessment value of the 
buildings amounted to EUR 625 thousand at yearend (2012: 551 thousand). The insurance value of other operating assets amounted to EUR 315 thousand 
at yearend 2013 (2012: 359 thousand).
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Equity

12. Share capital and share premium
a. Issue of B shares
On 31 January 2013, the Company received subscription for B shares for the nominal amount of ISK 107,630,769. Total subscription price amounted to 
EUR 15.7 million after transaction cost. On 15 February the consideration was paid to the Company and the shares are issued.

b. Share capital
Ordinary shares B shares

31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13  31.12.12

Issued at 1 January  1,008,681 1,108,681 0 0 

Issued for cash 0 0 107,631 0 

Own shares purcased 0 ( 100,000 ) 0 0 

Issued at period end 1,008,681 1,008,681 107,631 0 

Authorised for issue 1,108,681 1,218,681 231,000 0

c. Ordinary shares
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share of 1 ISK at meetings of the 
Company. Ordinary share capital according to the statement of financial position amounted to EUR 5.9 million at yearend 2013 (2012: EUR 5.9 million). 

d. B shares
B shares have priority to dividend over A shares until B shares have received dividend amounting to ISK 2.60 per share on a yearly basis starting 
on 1 February 2013 and ISK 3.90 per share starting on 1 February 2018. According to the Company's article of association the Company is not 
authorised to pay more than ISK 2.6 ISK per share on a yearly basis in dividend to shareholders of ordinary shares and B shares until 1 February 
2018. After that time the Company can pay shareholders 3.9 ISK per share on a yearly basis to shareholders of ordinary shares and B shares. B 
shares are generally without voting rights. If changes are to be made on the Articles of Association relating to increase or decrease in B shares, 
changes relating to the Company ś dividend policy or other changes related to the rights of owners of B shares, the approval of shareholders 
representing at least 2/3 of B shares present is required. Shareholders holding B shares can at any time demand that the Company convert all 
of the holdings of individual B shareholder into class A shares.B share capital according to the statement of financial position amounted to EUR 
0.6 million (2012: EUR 0 million).

Accumulated dividend rights of shareholders of B shares amounts to 1,628 thousand EUR at yearend 2013.

e. Share premium
Share premium represents excess of payment above nominal value (ISK 1 per share) that shareholders have paid for shares sold by the Company.  
According to Icelandic Companies Act, 25% of the nominal value of share capital must be held in reserve which can not be paid out as dividend to 
shareholders.
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Earnings per share

13. Profit attributable to ordinary sharesholders (basic and diluted):

2013 2012

Loss for the year ( 18,655 ) ( 14,148 )

Dividends on preference shares ( 1,628 ) 0 

Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders ( 20,283 ) ( 14,148 )

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic and diluted) in thousand shares

Share capital at 1 January 1,008,681 1,108,681 

Effect of own shares held 0 ( 79,726 )

Weighted average number of share capital 1,008,681 1,028,955 

Earnings per share:

Basic and diluted earnings per share for comprehensive income (EUR cent) ( 2,01 ) ( 1,37 )

 
Total comprehensive income ( 19,209 ) ( 14,518 )

Dividends on preference shares ( 1,628 ) 0 

Total comprehensive income attributable to ordinary shareholders ( 20,837 ) ( 14,518 )

Earnings per share:

Basic and diluted earnings per share (EUR cent) ( 2,07  ) ( 1,41  )

At 31 December 2013, 107.8 thousand preference shares were excluded from the diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares calculation 

as their effect would have been antidilutive.
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Borrowings

 
14. Borrowings, including accrued effective interest, are specified as follows:

Average interest rate

2013 2012 2013 2012

EUR 5.2% 5.0% 66,398 87,106 

ISK, unindexed 9.3% 8.3% 40,690 41,493
ISK, indexed 5.5% 5.4% 9,885 9,258
USD 5.1% 5.1% 39,860 44,628 
GBP 4.3% 5.6% 6,476 7,274 
CHF 3.8% 4.3% 935 3,462 
JPY 4.0% 4.5% 562 1,283 

Borrowings  164,806 194,504 

Borrowings are secured as follows:   

Secured bank loans 164,806 188,173 
Unsecured bond issues 0 6,331 

Borrowings total 164,806 194,504 

The Company’s investment securities are collateralised to secured bank loans; book value of collateralised investments are as follows:

Investments in Marel hf. 180,218 200,817 
Investment in London Acquisition Luxco S.á r.l. 142,900 162,000 

 323,118 362,817 

The Icelandic Supreme Court has ruled that loan agreements nominated in ISK with repayment defined with reference to foreign currencies are unlawful. 
Based on this ruling, some of the Company's loans have been recalculated and a gain in the amount of EUR 6.1 million is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income in the year 2013.
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15. Repayment of borrowings are specified as follows:

2013 2012

Repayments in 2013    24,859 
Repayments in 2014 1,665 137,880 
Repayments in 2015 31,379 24,409 
Repayments in 2016 42,880 4,056 
Repayments in 2017 39,805 1,232 
Repayments in 2018 47,053 634 
Subsequent 2,024 1,434 

Borrowings 164,806 194,504 

According to loan agreements the Company has to fulfil certain covenants.  At year end the Company is in full compliance with all covenants in its loan 
agreements.

Income tax

16. Income tax is specified as follows:

 Reconciliation of effective tax rate:

2013 2012

Loss before income tax ( 18,655 ) ( 14,148 )

Income tax using the Company’s tax rate ( 20.0% ) ( 3,731 ) ( 20.0% ) ( 2,830 )

Temporary difference due to unrecorded 
 tax asset and other changes

20.0%  3,731 20.0%  2,830 

Effective tax rate 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 
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Deferred income tax liability

17. The deferred income tax liability is specified as follows:

  The deferred income tax liability is attributable to the following items: 

2013 2012

Tax losses carried forward ( 19,972 ) ( 17,189 )

Temporary differences in Statement of financial position items ( 730 ) ( 717 )

Unrecorded tax asset 20,702 17,906

Deferred income tax liability at end of period 0 0

  

Tax asset is not recognised due to uncertainty over future utilization of the tax asset. The Company will not pay income tax in the year 2014 due 
to tax losses carried forward.

Guarantees

18. Guarantees

Eyrir Invest hf. has not issued any guarantees or entered into any obligations for its subsidiaries or other companies owned by Eyrir Invest hf.

Related parties

19. Identity of related parties

The Company has a related party relationship with its shareholders with significant influence, subsidiaries, associates, and with its directors and 
executive officers.

Shareholders with significant influence
Landsbankinn hf. is defined as related party due to major shareholding directly and indirectly through Horn Fjárfestingarfélag hf., totalling 23.2% 
of outstanding ordinary shares at yearend 2013. Eyrir Invest finances its activities with equity and longterm financing. Landsbankinn hf. has been 
one of Eyrir Invest hf's creditors since foundation.
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Transactions with related parties
Borrowings from Landsbankinn hf. amount to EUR 109.3 million at yearend 2013 (2012: EUR 112.8 million) or 66% of total borrowings (2012: 58%). 
Interest expences recognised through profit or loss on borrowings from Landsbankinn hf. amounted to EUR 7.2 milion (2012: EUR 5.6 million).

Eyrir Invest hf. has deposits at Landsbankinn hf. amounting to EUR 588 thousand at yearend 2013 (2012: EUR 237 thousand). In 2013 interest income 
amounted to EUR 42 thousand (2012: EUR 112 thousand).

All financing activities between Landsbankinn hf. and Eyrir Invest hf. are on a armslength basis at market rates.
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For further information please contact Eyrir Invest hf., 
Skolavordustigur 13, 101 Reykjavik, tel.: +354 525 0200,
fax + 354 525 0209 or visit our website, www.eyrir.is



Eyrir Invest hf. | Skolavordustigur 13 | 101 Reykjavik | Iceland | tel.: +354 525 0200 | www.eyrir.is
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